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1 the litigation funding agreement underpinning the sums
2 was enforceable; a perfectly natural reaction.
3 As a consequence, there was an agreement that
4 the CPO condition, that I took you to right at
5 the beginning of the LFA, was varied, and you see that
6 variation at clause 2 of this deed. It is on {C/1/3}.
7 This is what the parties have come to understand as
8 being the funding condition which underpins
9 the principal issue −− or one of the principal issues
10 that the Tribunal is concerned with this morning. You
11 will see there that Burford imposed a condition −−
12 I need not read it out, it is familiar to you −− that
13 effectively seeks the confidence and the comfort from
14 the Tribunal as to the enforceability of the agreement
15 as a precondition to advancing funds under
16 the agreement. That was the purpose of that.
17 There was then an amendment to the Deed of
18 Priorities , which I indicated had occurred, a moment
19 ago. You will see that at {C/1.2/1}. This is dated
20 5 May 2023 and it created a new Deed of Priorities which
21 dealt with solicitor ’s excess. It may be helpful if
22 I take you to the original version , {B/11/22}. So
23 I took you to the finance agreement at 22.
24 MR JUSTICE RICHARDS: Yes.
25 MR BACON: This was the document which you −−
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1 MR JUSTICE RICHARDS: I did not understand.
2 MR BACON: You did not understand, yes.
3 So returning back to the amended version, which was
4 at {C/1.2/2}, if you scroll down to {C/1.2/8}, you will
5 see a much more extensive allocation of proceeds
6 documents, which, with respect, makes a lot more sense,
7 and I would submit accords much more acutely with what
8 the Tribunal is accustomed to seeing in terms of
9 waterfalls .
10 MR JUSTICE RICHARDS: I have not seen this document.
11 MR BACON: No, I −− as I −− I had anticipated that is
12 the case. So we can just run through it very quickly .
13 As I say, it is fairly standardised in terms of its
14 approach to allocation of funds and proceeds.
15 First of all , any proceeds and costs awards are
16 payable to the class .
17 THE CHAIRMAN: Yes, but I think that the point raised by
18 Mr Justice Richards still stands: there does not seem to
19 be any definition of what proceeds, there is no upper
20 limit on proceeds.
21 MR BACON: The proceeds are defined in the LFA.
22 THE CHAIRMAN: Right.
23 MR BACON: Which we can go back to, but they are limited by
24 the amount that is recovered by way of costs, damages,
25 compensation, within the proceedings themselves.
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1 THE CHAIRMAN: Right.
2 MR JUSTICE RICHARDS: Maybe this is the bit I did not
3 understand. So suppose we fast−forward to trial and you
4 get damages of 50 million for the class . I am sure you
5 are hoping for more, but let us assume it is 50 million .
6 How much −− those are proceeds as defined, it seems to
7 me.
8 MR BACON: Yes.
9 MR JUSTICE RICHARDS: On the face of it, it all goes to
10 the claimants. That is the bit I just do not
11 understand.
12 MR BACON: The damages will be distributed in accordance
13 with the distribution plan that the Tribunal ultimately
14 puts in place, and Burford’s entitlement to its return
15 is taken from the undistributed damages which are not
16 collected by the claimant cohort.
17 MR JUSTICE RICHARDS: So what this envisages is that
18 the Tribunal makes a −− so if we fast−forward to trial,
19 there is 50 million in the pot, it is envisaged that
20 the Tribunal makes a distribution plan saying how much
21 of that is to go to claimants ...
22 MR JOWELL: Can I assist?
23 MR JUSTICE RICHARDS: Yes, please.
24 MR JOWELL: The basis of this is that it is typical that not
25 all claimants come forward to take their share of
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1 the damages. So if, say, the basis is that everybody
2 can claim their £100 but only 50% of the people actually
3 bother to claim, then there will be undistributed
4 proceeds, and it is out of those undistributed proceeds
5 that the funders are then remunerated.
6 MR JUSTICE RICHARDS: I see −−
7 MR JOWELL: That is the attraction really of this system,
8 because no one is effectively out of pocket, save by
9 their own default.
10 MR JUSTICE RICHARDS: So the ”first, to the Claimants ...”
11 bit means first , to the claimants (to the extent they
12 come forward in time), with that being regulated in some
13 other document?
14 MR JOWELL: I think that’s −−
15 MR BACON: Well, I think it means more than that. I think
16 it means it comes to the claimant for the purpose of
17 distribution . Everything comes to the class
18 representative on behalf of the class . There is then
19 a distribution which is incepted in accordance with
20 the litigation plan, the project plan for distribution
21 which has been provided for, and then, on the assumption
22 that there will be some undistributed in terms of
23 uncollected damages, the intention, originally
24 certainly , was to take the funders’ return from
25 the undistributed damages.
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1 on the part of Burford, and we know that the delta
2 between this total and the costs budget is 9 million , so
3 we have got an ATE premium we are not allowed to know
4 the amount of, that’s fine , we have got £10 million and
5 we have got only 9 million extra. Now, I do not know,
6 consistent with the PCR’s desire to keep the premium
7 confidential , how best the Tribunal revolves that
8 difficult position , but as we saw in the Coll judgment,
9 the Tribunal said : well , ultimately I do not mind so
10 long as I have total confidence that the funding amount
11 covers the costs budget. I am not entirely sure that
12 this Tribunal can be quite as confident because I cannot
13 get the numbers to add up, not helped by the fact that
14 I am not allowed to know one of the numbers. But that
15 is as far as I can go on the second point, but just so
16 the Tribunal knows where we are coming from: it is not
17 an application to be told the ATE premium, it is just
18 a certainty that the proposed costs budget is entirely
19 covered in this funding agreement, essentially , as are
20 of course the adverse cover costs.
21 MR JUSTICE RICHARDS: Then what about the point that I think
22 Mr Bacon made that even if the costs budget is exceeded
23 the excess is converted into a conditional fee
24 agreement?
25 MS WAKEFIELD: Only for the solicitors.
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1 MR JUSTICE RICHARDS: Okay, the rebuttal is it is only for
2 the solicitor ’s costs.
3 MS WAKEFIELD: Yes.
4 So those are my submissions in relation to the costs
5 budget. I am sorry that I have spoken for some time.
6 I have probably tried your patience, but thank you very
7 much.
8 THE CHAIRMAN: Thank you very much.
9 MS WAKEFIELD: Thank you.
10 Reply submissions by MR BACON
11 MR BACON: Well, sir, the first point I would make is, with
12 the greatest respect to Ms Wakefield, it does not sound
13 like a gatekeeper type submission is being made, but
14 this is a much more lower−level rather than high−level
15 challenge to the budget, which, as I at least understand
16 her submissions, has deviated a little , to say
17 the least , from the skeleton.
18 There is nothing untoward or devious here or unclear
19 about anything that is concerning the budget.
20 The original budget, which you were taken to, the first
21 budget −− I will just get my note −− so {B/6/2} −− sets
22 out in some detail, with respect, the total costs that
23 are being anticipated to be incurred pre−CPO and
24 post−CPO. When I say sets them out in some detail, it
25 breaks down the total figures into the fees payable to
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1 the solicitors , the fees payable to counsel, to experts,
2 public relations , distribution and transaction costs, to
3 be read alongside the budget plan, which, as I −− sorry,
4 the litigation plan, which I indicated, I think for your
5 note, was {B/4/9}. I am not going to take you to it,
6 but it is a detailed litigation plan in which there has
7 been no suggestion the plan to which this budget is part
8 of is an unreasonable plan or does not cater for topics
9 or subjects or steps which should have been catered for.
10 Again, for the costs post−CPO, we are going to have
11 a breakdown, and you will see, just to explain
12 the difference in the figures , which has been
13 the subject of correspondence before today,
14 correspondence which has been somewhat mind−numbing,
15 with respect to Ms Wakefield’s solicitors . The original
16 budget that you may have in front of you now at {B/6/2}
17 calculated the solicitor ’s fees , as the footnote makes
18 clear , by reference to full hourly rates . The revised
19 budget, which is the redacted document which has
20 featured in my learned friend’s submissions −− sorry,
21 I have just lost my note, bear with me −− it should be
22 {B/12/1}. Is it my fault, I am clicking on the wrong
23 button? Yes, {B/12/8} −− sorry, sir −− has a different
24 figure for the investments pre−CPO, which we have
25 explained in correspondence reflects the fact that
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1 the solicitor ’s fees have been calculated in the revised
2 budget by reference to discounted fees because of
3 the conditional fee nature of the arrangements they
4 have. So that explains the difference , together with
5 the cost of the ATE premiums which have been taken out
6 to finance the additional adverse costs that the budget
7 revised plan provides for . There is no question at all
8 that if we were to provide an unredacted version −−
9 I can provide the Tribunal with an unredacted version if
10 it wishes to see it , but if you are provided with it ,
11 you can immediately obviously see the premiums that are
12 charged for the adverse costs, which is something we
13 obviously pushed back on, legitimately, and if we were
14 to do something else, which is to sort of redact just
15 those premium costs and leave the solicitor ’s and
16 counsel’s fees and so on that remained, you would be
17 able to work out the cost of the premiums, because you
18 just deduct the total from the others.
19 So, the position is that the original budget
20 recalculated at the discounted solicitor ’s rates is
21 the budget that the class representative puts forward.
22 We submit that at the gatekeeper level, nothing further
23 is required. Assumptions and breakdowns of hourly rates
24 and all the sort of things that −− the bells and
25 whistles that my learned friend is advancing as being
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1 would it be feasible also in light of the nature of
2 the class as a group of consumers −− end consumers. Nor
3 is it contended −− rightly contended by the proposed
4 defendants that the present claim could be brought as an
5 opt−in claim by those consumers.
6 Now, some points have been taken in relation to
7 the methodology that was outlined by Mr Druce in his
8 first report, but those have all been responded to in
9 his second and third reports, and I think no extant
10 points remain on the basis of which certification is
11 opposed on the basis of an inadequate methodology.
12 There are certain points that they have asked to
13 highlight to the Tribunal, which you will have seen, and
14 I will come to some of those in due course, but there is
15 no essential attack on the methodology as being
16 inadequate.
17 Which then, I think, leads us to class definition in
18 detail , and also to the issue of the case management of
19 the renewables obligation issue . If I may deal with
20 that second issue first and then I will pass on to
21 Mr Rothschild to deal with some of the details on
22 the class definition .
23 So, just by way of background −− I am sure you will
24 be familiar −− the basis of the renewables obligation
25 issue is this , that, assuming there was an overcharge,
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1 did that lead to the number of renewable obligation
2 certificates per MWh awarded to offshore windfarms being
3 greater? That in a nutshell is the issue . More
4 specifically , it is whether any alleged overcharge on
5 intra array cables −− those are the cables that
6 effectively link different parts of a windfarm −−
7 inflated the transmission network use of system charges
8 paid by offshore windfarms and therefore resulted in
9 proportionately increased payments by suppliers under
10 the Renewables Obligation scheme.
11 Now, under the Renewables Obligation scheme that was
12 in force at the time, the renewable generators were
13 entitled to a certain number of these
14 renewable obligation certificates per unit of energy
15 generated over a particular time period, and
16 the suppliers were obliged to pay those
17 renewable obligation certificates , essentially it ’s form
18 of subsidy for those generators that produce renewable
19 electricity and it was to encourage of course more
20 renewable generation of electricity .
21 Now, the number of ROCs to which different renewable
22 generation technologies were entitled were set by
23 the Government from 2009 onward by way of a banding, so
24 that effectively there was a different ratio of ROC
25 depending on what type of renewable generation you were
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1 involved in , whether it was landfill gas or windfarms
2 and so on. Now, there are three banding decisions that
3 are of relevance to the present claim, or of particular
4 relevance −− there may be others, but there are three
5 that are clearly of relevance. The first is in 2009,
6 which awarded I think one−and−a−half ROCs per MWh to
7 offshore wind. There was one then in 2010, which
8 increased the level of support to two ROCs per MWh, and
9 then there was one in 2013 which first maintained
10 the level of support at two ROCs per MWh and then
11 reduced it to 1.9 from 2015 to 2016, and then down to
12 1.8 ROCs thereafter. So, those are the three, if you
13 like , decisions of the particular ratio of ROCs that are
14 relevant .
15 Now, there is no real debate, I think, that banding
16 levels were set by reference to, in part at least ,
17 windfarm costs, and there is also no dispute that those
18 costs included the cost of intra array cables.
19 THE CHAIRMAN: Mr Jowell, we are familiar with the factual
20 background to this issue.
21 MR JOWELL: I am grateful, yes.
22 THE CHAIRMAN: And we are satisfied that it would be
23 appropriate to have the issue of the ROCs dealt with in
24 conjunction with the London Array proceedings.
25 MR JOWELL: Oh, well, I am grateful for that. I think, if
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1 I may −−
2 THE CHAIRMAN: That it should be CMC, but obviously there
3 should be a CMC to discuss how the issue can be dealt
4 with, but that does not seem to be contentious.
5 MR JOWELL: No, indeed.
6 THE CHAIRMAN: I mean, that is certainly something that is
7 pressed for by the proposed defendants and, as
8 I understand it, you now accept that that is an
9 appropriate way forward.
10 MR JOWELL: Well, if I may, I should caveat that slightly,
11 or perhaps just in certain respects. We say that if
12 there were no London Array proceedings, it would not be
13 appropriate for this to be heard as a preliminary issue .
14 It is quintessentially something that would be
15 appropriate to be heard as part of the trial . We can
16 see that there is a −− in the sense of fairness − a
17 benefit potentially of it being heard as part of
18 the London Array proceedings and we do not ourselves
19 object to that course for that reason, for the reasons
20 of consistency.
21 However, it is essential , in my respectful
22 submission, that the Tribunal should not reach
23 a concluded view on that today because it has not heard
24 from London Array itself, and it is its trial that is
25 effectively being gatecrashed by this issue which no
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1 longer, I think, arises in those proceedings, strictly
2 speaking, because of Nexans’ change of stance in which
3 they have, having previously effectively taken
4 the position that we took, they have now,
5 opportunistically , one might say, reversed course and
6 now concede the point in those proceedings. So it does
7 not strictly arise in those proceedings, but
8 nevertheless we do not object and I think we are all
9 agreed that there should be a CMC in the near future to
10 decide that point.
11 The other caveat we would make is this, that
12 the Tribunal will need to give careful consideration to
13 the scope of that issue , because it could be done on
14 a purely quite narrow basis, which I think is what
15 the proposed defendants are proposing, which is just
16 the 2009 and 2010 decisions. It could also potentially
17 also extend to the 2013 decision. It could also extend
18 to other common issues between our proceedings and
19 the London Array proceedings, most obviously
20 the question of the overcharge in London Array.
21 THE CHAIRMAN: Yes.
22 MR JOWELL: Which is a component −− a small component, but
23 a component of our overcharge. So all of those issues ,
24 we suggest, should be ventilated at a CMC, I think we
25 proposed in the near future, in May and June.
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1 The third point I just should lay down by way of
2 marker is that we do think it is essential in advance of
3 that CMC that we should receive the disclosure in
4 the London Array proceedings so that we are on an equal
5 footing with the proposed defendants and London Array
6 and know essentially what the underlying material is
7 there, because that will assist us in being able to
8 formulate a concluded position on what the scope of
9 the issues −− common issues, we say, we should be
10 entitled to participate on.
11 MR JUSTICE RICHARDS: I got the sense from your skeleton
12 argument that you were −− London Array agreed in
13 principle that you should get some disclosure. Are
14 there matters between you in London Array?
15 MR JOWELL: I think that the position remains unclear at
16 present. We certainly seek that disclosure .
17 MR LUCKHURST: So we have agreed in principle that they
18 should have that disclosure and we have raised that with
19 the London Array claimants and they are yet to get back
20 to us with the detail of that.
21 MR JOWELL: We would be grateful for a clear steer that that
22 should be provided and comfortably in advance of
23 the CMC.
24 MR JUSTICE RICHARDS: We cannot really order disclosure
25 against London Array without hearing from London Array,
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1 can we?
2 MR JOWELL: No, I see that, but ... that is why
3 I said ”a steer” rather than ”an order”, but I think it
4 does make eminent sense to us, obviously subject to
5 confidentiality concerns. Otherwise we are going to
6 have to have two CMCs, one where we ask for
7 the disclosure potentially and another where one debates
8 the issue .
9 MR LUCKHURST: Sorry, just in light of what my learned
10 friend has said, I should add that one of the points
11 made by the London Array claimants is that the scope of
12 the sharing of disclosure should be informed by
13 the scope of the common issues. So there is a bit of
14 a chicken and egg situation there.
15 MR JUSTICE RICHARDS: So is the order you are asking us to
16 make then that there should be a CMC involving everyone
17 in this room and London Array in May or June −−
18 MR JOWELL: Yes.
19 MR JUSTICE RICHARDS: −− ideally to discuss scope of
20 a preliminary issue , parties to seek to agree between
21 themselves a position on disclosure in advance of that,
22 and indeed give disclosure in advance of that CMC?
23 MR JOWELL: Yes.
24 MR JUSTICE RICHARDS: But if, despite having tried,
25 a position on disclosure cannot be agreed, that CMC will
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1 have to be −− at least some of the business at that CMC
2 will have to be disclosure?
3 MR JOWELL: Yes, and ideally to state that in the Tribunal’s
4 at least provisional view, the provision of that
5 disclosure appears to be sensible to facilitate that CMC
6 being effective , which would be desirable for all
7 parties so that they know where they stand.
8 If I may −−
9 PROFESSOR NEUBERGER: Can I just query one thing? Is it
10 agreed that if this preliminary issue be done that it
11 would be done as part of the trial or is that −− part of
12 the London Array trial, or is that still an open
13 question?
14 MR JOWELL: I think what is envisaged is that it would be as
15 part of the London Array trial, which starts in about
16 a year, so there is time for it . But I think that it is
17 still an open question. I mean, it may be that
18 London Array will say, ”This is no longer an issue in
19 our proceedings and we think, if you want to deal
20 with this , deal with this somewhere else”, and if that
21 is the case, the Tribunal will have to consider those
22 submissions.
23 PROFESSOR NEUBERGER: Thank you.
24 MR JOWELL: So I think the next issues are certain issues as
25 to the scope of the class and the question of
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1 the participation of minors and after that I plan to
2 come on to the re−amended claim form and the order.
3 But, if I may, on those initial points about the scope
4 of the class and the participation of minors, I will
5 hand over to Mr Rothschild, if I may.
6 Submissions by MR ROTHSCHILD
7 MR ROTHSCHILD: Mr Chairman, members of the Tribunal,
8 the class definition , or the proposed class definition
9 is to be found in the draft CPO at {F/197.1/3},
10 paragraph 8. It may be helpful to have that on
11 the screen.
12 The proposed defendants have raised a couple of
13 class definition issues for the Tribunal to consider in
14 the context of its gatekeeper role, although they do not
15 actually object to certification on either of those.
16 The first issue they raise is whether the class is
17 identifiable , focusing in particular on the words ”bore
18 cost of paying”. The words ”bore the cost of paying” are
19 in the first couple of lines of the class definition .
20 Those words were carefully and deliberately chosen for
21 reasons of fairness , for reasons of practicality , and to
22 avoid complication. Well, Prysmian’s response to
23 the CPO application queried whether those words might be
24 replaced with the expression ”paid directly ”. Prysmian
25 did not actually make this point in their skeleton
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1 argument for the hearing, but they briefly resurrected
2 it in a short letter to the Tribunal sent at the start
3 of this week, so for thoroughness, I should perhaps
4 address that point.
5 So fairness first . Well, we recognise that either
6 form of words, Prysmian’s formulation ”paid directly”,
7 or our formulation ”bore the cost of paying”, will reach
8 the same result in many cases. That is to say, in many
9 cases but not all cases, the person who directly paid
10 for the consumption will also be the only person who
11 bore the cost of paying, bore the loss . In other words,
12 the person who wrote the cheque, the person who had
13 the direct debit, the person who bought the prepayment
14 credit at the newsagents will in many cases bear
15 the entirety of the cost, but the crucial point is that
16 that often will not be the case, because sometimes
17 a contribution will have been made towards that direct
18 payment.
19 We gave some examples in our skeleton argument of
20 flat sharers or roommates or just a classic domestic
21 arrangement between spouses, where it might be that only
22 one of them actually made the direct payment but he or
23 she did so using funds provided by others.
24 MR JUSTICE RICHARDS: So just to make sure I understand
25 the drafting of your proposed class definition . All
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1 people alive who bore, and personal representatives,
2 the cost.
3 MR ROTHSCHILD: Yes.
4 MR JUSTICE RICHARDS: I mean, without sort of suggesting on
5 the hoof drafting changes, does that really mean all
6 people are live who bore all or part of the cost?
7 Because in your situation you have got one person with
8 a direct debit and you have got a roommate who is making
9 a contribution. It might be said that both of them are
10 bearing part of the cost in your scenario.
11 MR ROTHSCHILD: Yes, that is what we mean by the definition,
12 yes.
13 THE CHAIRMAN: Could I ask −− this is actually quite an
14 important point −− how do you anticipate that potential
15 members of the class will establish that they bore any
16 part of the cost? Looking at the matter overall, it
17 does seem to the Tribunal that we need to concern
18 ourselves at this stage with how an award is going to be
19 distributed . I appreciate that what is said in the plan
20 is that that can be put off for the time being, but
21 realistically , in practical terms, how are people going
22 to establish that they bore any part of the cost of an
23 electricity bill in , say, 2001? How are they going to
24 establish when they first started paying the electricity
25 bill so they can be sure they comply with the limitation
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1 requirements? How is that going to be dealt with?
2 Is it practical to expect people to come forward to
3 prove that they paid a part of an electricity bill in
4 2002 if all they are going to get out of it is , say, for
5 example, £10 or some fairly modest amount?
6 MR ROTHSCHILD: Yes, well −−
7 THE CHAIRMAN: Because what troubles the Tribunal is that
8 these proceedings are going to be of minimal benefit to
9 members of the class if it is going to be difficult −−
10 if it is going to be problematic for them to come
11 forward to claim any part of the damages. It is going
12 to be a benefit to the lawyers and the funders, but
13 is it going to be really of benefit to the members of
14 the class , and if not, it is really appropriate that we
15 should certify these proceedings?
16 MR ROTHSCHILD: Well, for present purposes, we say
17 the definition is practical for people to be able to
18 know whether they are in or out of the class . People
19 will know whether they have made a contribution towards
20 electricity .
21 THE CHAIRMAN: Really? 20 years ago?
22 MR ROTHSCHILD: They will most probably have financial
23 records potentially accessible , and to the extent they
24 do not, they will know that they put a share of their
25 budget towards house expenditure.
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1 THE CHAIRMAN: But with respect, that is just not realistic.
2 People do not keep records of what they spent on
3 electricity bills 20 years ago.
4 MR ROTHSCHILD: For the purposes of somebody knowing whether
5 or not they should opt out. They will know essentially
6 whether they contributed to household expenditure.
7 The separate question is proving it for the purposes of
8 claiming from the pot of aggregate damages.
9 The case law which we set out in our reply at
10 section B2, and we can turn it up, it is {A/10/8},
11 emphasises it is not necessary at the distribution stage
12 to adhere strictly to the compensatory principle. So we
13 have not tied ourselves yet to a precise methodology for
14 distribution , but it is not necessarily the case that we
15 must compensate every individual who steps forward and
16 goes to the trouble of identifying that they did pay,
17 producing the receipts , with their exact compensation.
18 There are alternative possibilities for distribution .
19 One we have mooted there is just a credit applied
20 generally on electricity bills . There will be other
21 ways of doing it . One could prioritise the needier
22 members of the class and give them a higher amount.
23 We have not yet committed to a particular method of
24 distribution , but it need not trouble the Tribunal at
25 the moment that every one of the potentially 30 million
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1 individuals would need to produce bank statements and
2 full documentary proof, because it is not necessary at
3 the distribution stage for that to happen.
4 THE CHAIRMAN: Well, I accept that, but equally,
5 the Tribunal needs to be satisfied that there is
6 a realistic , practical way in which members of the class
7 are going to come forward and claim their part of
8 the damages. I quite accept it does not have to be
9 exact, but that is not the point. At the moment, there
10 seems to me to be a vacuum when it comes to actually
11 explaining how these proceedings are ultimately going to
12 be for the benefit of the class .
13 MR ROTHSCHILD: I can give some examples. Name on
14 the electricity bill would be a starting point.
15 Residence; if they were on the electoral register at
16 the relevant date, that would show that they were
17 present, and if they then signed a declaration to the
18 effect that they formally stated that they contributed
19 to an electricity bill , then that may well be taken at
20 face value in the first instance.
21 THE CHAIRMAN: What about using the data of the suppliers of
22 electricity ?
23 MR ROTHSCHILD: That is a further possibility.
24 PROFESSOR NEUBERGER: Just, I do not understand the term,
25 I mean, if you have got a household with various people
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1 who share costs, are they all people who bear the cost
2 of the electricity bill or is there one person, or does
3 there have to be a formal agreement? I do not
4 understand.
5 MR ROTHSCHILD: It may be that they only contributed in
6 part. We are keen to avoid the problem of pass−on.
7 I mean, there is a point which helps explain why the
8 proposed defendants have an interest in raising this
9 issue . If the class were to be cut down to only those
10 who paid directly, as they suggest, then the claim would
11 be significantly smaller to the extent it would exclude
12 indirect payers, those who contributed, and doubtless
13 the proposed defendants will say, well , those who
14 directly paid, many of them, will have passed on their
15 loss to others. We are dealing with a long time period
16 here going back to 2001, and domestic arrangements
17 change over a period of time, and so it would be most
18 unfair to focus only on those who had exclusively paid
19 entirely throughout that long period.
20 PROFESSOR NEUBERGER: But I can see your difficulty about
21 pass−on and fairness and all that, but I still have
22 the problem that I do not know, even if I observe
23 a household where they share costs and somebody pays
24 them, I have no idea whether the person who is not
25 actually paying the bill is regarded as included or not
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1 included in your class .
2 MR ROTHSCHILD: There is another way of looking at it, which
3 is from the perspective of how one goes about
4 calculating the aggregate damages, because for present
5 purposes we are concerned with defining whose loss is
6 being calculated by the Tribunal.
7 Now, all those who bore the cost of consumption of
8 domestic electricity will have borne the full costs that
9 Mr Druce identifies in his report. If some category are
10 to be carved out, that makes the calculation of
11 aggregate damages very much more complicated. It will
12 be necessary to consider the pass−on within
13 the household in an intricate way, which would
14 overcomplicate the aggregate damages calculation.
15 PROFESSOR NEUBERGER: I can see the problem, but I am still
16 left with the problem that I cannot identify whether
17 somebody is a member of the class or not, whatever
18 documentary evidence is available. I still just do not
19 know what it means if people are in a joint household
20 sharing costs. Are they both people who bear the cost
21 of the bill −−
22 MR ROTHSCHILD: Yes, if they share the costs.
23 PROFESSOR NEUBERGER: But we are getting into detailed
24 household arrangements of which there will be no
25 evidence and people have different recollections .
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1 champion, in relation particularly to her experience
2 with Norwich Union, and has well in mind her obligations
3 to the class to ensure that they are properly
4 compensated and that is uppermost in her mind, and
5 therefore she has a firm determination to ensure that
6 distribution is adequate.
7 The third point I would just highlight is that we
8 did state that −− I did state that we would be perfectly
9 content, after certification , to provide some further
10 elaboration of potential distribution methods if
11 the Tribunal would find it of assistance , and I do not
12 resile from that at all . However, I should just put
13 down one or two caveats. The one is that it may be that
14 it will be difficult to get engagement with all persons
15 whose cooperation would be required for certain methods
16 of distribution at a relatively early stage, before
17 there is any award of damages or any settlement in
18 the offing . For example, it might be difficult to get
19 the engagement of Ofgem or indeed distribution companies
20 in the market, if their engagement was necessary. So
21 I put that down. I would think that it would be near
22 impossible to get their engagement before certification,
23 because you would be coming along saying, ”I might be
24 a representative”. But even at a very early stage
25 after , it may still be that it is difficult to get their
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1 engagement, so we do anticipate there may be some
2 difficulties on that front .
3 The second is that, of course, prior to disclosure ,
4 knowing what data is available, and also prior to
5 knowing what the amount of any award or settlement of
6 damages is, it will not be possible to reach any final
7 determination on the appropriate method of distribution,
8 which is indeed why the courts −− senior courts have
9 made clear that it really is a matter that is typically
10 better dealt with at a later stage in the proceedings.
11 So those are just the additional points that
12 I should flag .
13 With that, I will hand over to Mr Rothschild.
14 THE CHAIRMAN: Thank you.
15 Submissions by MR ROTHSCHILD
16 MR ROTHSCHILD: Just one further point from me on this
17 morning’s discussion. On class definition and how easy
18 it is for an individual to know if they are in the class
19 or not, I just point out one feature of the class
20 definition , which is one is in it if one has paid at
21 some point since 1 April 2001. One point is all that is
22 necessary. One point in time.
23 So I said that there were −−
24 THE CHAIRMAN: What about if you first pay between the date
25 in 2015 and 2016?
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1 MR ROTHSCHILD: Mr Chairman, you are referring to
2 the carve−out?
3 THE CHAIRMAN: Yes.
4 MR ROTHSCHILD: Well, likewise, one point in time.
5 THE CHAIRMAN: Yes.
6 MR ROTHSCHILD: But for present purposes, we are really
7 considering the ease of individuals in deciding whether
8 they need to opt out or to consider opting out.
9 MR JUSTICE RICHARDS: Obviously you have heard this morning
10 questions from the panel about your proposed formulation
11 of the class definition . One thing I am not hearing −−
12 I mean, we understand why you have chosen
13 the formulation that you have chosen. I am certainly
14 not hearing from you anything to the effect of, ”Our
15 claim would be holed below the waterline if you went
16 with the alternative formulation” by reference to names
17 on bills . If there is a downside to the other
18 formulation that is being proposed, I mean, I would
19 welcome just a few minutes on what that downside is.
20 MR ROTHSCHILD: Well, there is a very significant downside,
21 which is that almost certainly the proposed defendants
22 would then plead some sort of pass−on defence and it
23 would be necessary to ascertain how much had been passed
24 on by the direct bill payers to others, to those who had
25 contributed: the flat sharers , the spouse who had
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1 contributed towards the cheque or the bank account from
2 which one spouse had −− the other spouse had made
3 the payment.
4 MR JUSTICE RICHARDS: But does that point not arise on your
5 formulation as well? Because if we look at who has
6 borne all or part of the costs, then if we look at
7 examples of people working from home whose employers
8 reimbursed them, then does your formulation catch
9 the employer who has reimbursed the costs of
10 the domestic heating for the employee?
11 MR ROTHSCHILD: Well, to the extent that −−
12 MR JUSTICE RICHARDS: Certainly you’re going to get
13 a pass−on case there.
14 MR ROTHSCHILD: There are many features. I am sure, sir,
15 you have looked at Mr Druce’s analysis, there are many
16 parts to his methodology. It may be necessary −−
17 a point I was about to come on to −− to make some
18 adjustment for non−domestic consumption; the class
19 definition only looks for domestic consumption.
20 Mr Druce considers that would only require, if anything,
21 a very small adjustment, but this will be significantly
22 more complicated and it would also cut down
23 the aggregate damages award very substantially,
24 potentially .
25 So unless you have further questions, that is all
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1 I propose to say on the first issue of class definition .
2 The second issue raised by the proposed defendants
3 relates to domestic consumption, indeed the point I have
4 only just touched on. NKT mention this very briefly in
5 their skeleton argument at paragraphs 18 to 21
6 {AB/5/10−11}. It really seems to be no more than an
7 observation that you might want to look at a passage in
8 our expert, Mr Druce’s, report on the topic. NKT do not
9 articulate any particular problem with it. The context
10 is where premises are classified as domestic but some of
11 the electricity is for non−domestic consumption, running
12 a business in other words. Mr Druce has identified
13 sources of information on which he might draw to
14 the extent an adjustment needs to be made to the total
15 figures for electricity supplied to domestic premises on
16 account of the categories of non−domestic consumption
17 that the proposed defendants have raised. The evidence
18 I am referring to is in Mr Druce’s third report
19 {D/26/116}, starting at page 116, paragraphs 359 through
20 to 362. The Tribunal may have read it already.
21 Mr Druce refers there, for example, to DCMS data on
22 short term property lettings and Office of National
23 Statistics data on working from home and operating
24 a commercial business from home. It is obvious from
25 this , I submit, that there are data sources available to
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1 him which he could use to assess a discount on account
2 of this particular issue , if a discount is needed once
3 the scope of the issues have been pleaded out, and
4 I submit that that is a sufficient initial blueprint for
5 present purposes, we are obviously not at trial yet, we
6 do not even yet have a defence from the proposed
7 defendants. So my response to NKT’s very short point
8 is : the expert has dealt with this .
9 So unless there are questions at this stage,
10 I propose to move on from class definition to the topic
11 of minors.
12 The proposed claim covers the whole of Britain, and
13 in England and Wales, full age is attained at 18,
14 whereas in Scotland, people over 16 have legal capacity
15 to enter into transactions . Now, the proposed
16 defendants ask you to consider whether any special
17 directions might be needed for these people. That, in
18 my submission, elevates theory over practicality for
19 several reasons.
20 The first is that the number of minors is
21 negligible . Taking the Scottish position first , we are
22 concerned with under−16s bearing the cost of domestic
23 consumption of electricity . That such people exist
24 seems improbable. But as to the English position, we
25 are concerned with under−18s bearing the cost of
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1 domestic consumption of electricity . There may be some,
2 but given that the law requires compulsory education or
3 training until age 18 and the great majority stay in
4 full time education until 18, it is pretty obviously
5 a small number.
6 The question arises: why do these people potentially
7 need protection? Well, only to the extent that they
8 might lack capacity to exercise their right to opt out
9 of the collective proceedings, and if these under−18s
10 have sufficient capacity to earn enough to pay for
11 electricity , it seems likely that they are worldly
12 enough to read a website on how to opt out of
13 the proposed claim.
14 But in any event, we are actually not concerned with
15 under−18s, but on proper analysis those under 17 and
16 two−thirds. Why do I say that? Well, the opt out
17 deadline is proposed to be three months after
18 the Rule 81 notice and the Rule 81 notice could be one
19 month after the CPO. In short, that means the opt out
20 deadline is likely to be almost four months after
21 the CPO, so those who were under 18 by the time of
22 the deadline for opting out are those who were 17 and
23 two−thirds at the cut−off date for the claim. So
24 realistically , how many people under the age of 17 and
25 two−thirds both pay towards electricity bills and lack
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1 capacity to understand how to opt out? I would submit
2 a very small number, if any, so that is why I say
3 the numbers concerned with this point are negligible.
4 My second point is that this is a state of legal
5 incapacity that they grow out of. When they attain
6 the age of majority, they can seek permission to opt out
7 of the claim if so minded. The CAT Rules make provision
8 for late opt−outs in Rule 82(2) and (3). I do not know
9 if you wish the operator to turn it up, but that is
10 {AUTHA/6/3}. In short, those provisions allow opting
11 out after the date given in the CPO with the permission
12 of the Tribunal, and in my submission that is quite
13 sufficient protection.
14 The third point is that these are individuals who
15 have someone acting in their interests anyway, they do
16 not need a special litigation friend , they have
17 Ms Spottiswoode, and their claims are not materially
18 different from those of the other proposed class
19 members, and this Tribunal, if a CPO is granted, will be
20 supervising Ms Spottiswoode. So in short, all of
21 the class members, minor or otherwise are protected.
22 My fourth point relates to the authority from
23 the Upper Tribunal which my learned friends for NKT cite
24 in their skeleton argument. It is authority in
25 the context of immigration matters. Immigration matters
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1 given way in order to allow, at least as far as we are
2 concerned, the proposed defendants a luxuriant
3 four months or more to put in their defences, subject of
4 course to the Tribunal’s views.
5 H is the joint CMC that we have already canvassed
6 with the London Array proceedings, and you will see that
7 we propose, subject, of course, again, to the Tribunal,
8 for it to be at a date in May or June of this year.
9 Then, finally , ”Costs”, which are costs in the case,
10 other than the costs of the amendments relating to
11 limitation , which I will reserve to trial .
12 So those are our submissions, unless we can be of
13 further assistance .
14 THE CHAIRMAN: Thank you, Mr Jowell.
15 Submissions by MS WAKEFIELD
16 MS WAKEFIELD: If I might make some very brief observations,
17 starting with the point which was canvassed this morning
18 between the Tribunal and my learned friends Mr Jowell
19 and Mr Rothschild. It is important, in my submission,
20 not to lose sight of the various ways in which
21 this ”bore the cost” type issue emerges in the analysis
22 of the regime. So, Professor Neuberger raised
23 repeatedly the concern that he just could not understand
24 who was in the class and that one has to understand
25 that, and I say that is entirely right as the starting
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1 point. We know under the regime, the statute and
2 the rules that the Tribunal can only make a CPO if it is
3 in relation to an identifiable class of persons, and
4 when one looks at the words ”who bore the cost”, one is
5 left scratching one’s head slightly .
6 That came perhaps even further to the fore in
7 the course of my learned friend Mr Rothschild’s
8 submissions in relation to domestic supply. That was
9 one of my points, the methodology point, and we accept
10 now that there is sufficient detail in Druce 3 for that
11 not to be a serious issue . But where it overlaps with
12 this point is that the reader of the class definition is
13 meant to understand that the words ”who bore the cost”
14 applies only domestically and not commercially. So if
15 I am a childminder and my husband bears some of
16 the costs of our electricity bill , that is
17 a relevant ”bear the costs”. But if I elevate the fees
18 I charge to those whose children I look after , that
19 isn ’t a relevant ”who bore the cost”. Those parents are
20 outside the class but my husband is separately inside
21 the class .
22 So it is a particularly unusual and nuanced reading
23 of the words ”who bore the cost” even if one could
24 understand what is meant by ”who bore the cost” in
25 the first place. The reason it is so important to have

98

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

identifiability o f t he c lass a t t his s tage, as
a certification issue ,  i s o f course b ecause the Tribunal 
is compelled by primary legislation to identify in
the CPO who is in the class, it matters who is in
the class and it matters so that they can exercise one 
of the only rights they have in the course of the whole 
proceedings, which is to opt in or to opt out. Of 
course, were any to opt out, it is also the case that 
their associated quantum has to flow with t hem. That is 
another way in which entitlement is not purely an issue 
for distribution , you have to have some idea now of what 
each person’s participation is in the claim, who they 
are and what sort of loss they may either have borne or 
should be extracted from the aggregate damages award 
upon their opting out. That is a really important first 
stage.

The second stage in the analysis in which this
idea, ”bore the cost” idea, comes to the fore is of 
course cost−benefit and that was the assessment which 

the Tribunal kept on coming back to in the course of 
interrogating the point. Now, it is absolutely wrong to 
put forward a view of the law which says that anything 
to do with distribution is carved out of
the cost−benefit analysis. That is not right . What happened 

in Merricks is that there was a discrete issue
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in relation to distribution which was this. We proposed 
that distribution should take place on a flat p er capita 
basis and the Tribunal said, entirely separately and 
just to do with distribution , that is wrong because 
distribution has to be compensatory. So it was a pure 
distribution question, it was not a cost−benefit 

question. My submission is the Tribunal can take into 
account anything the Tribunal thinks is relevant to
the assessment of cost−benefit and that i ncludes likely 

recovery, likelihood of a person knowing they are 
entitled to recover, likelihood of a person coming 
forward at the end, likely functioning of any mechanism 
that could facilitate it . That is squarely in
the cost−benefit a nalysis, i n my submission.

When we come to methods of distribution and
the proposal that perhaps my learned friends could go 
away and think about whether this crediting off idea 
might work, it may be that the Tribunal could bear in 
mind the option that was taken in Gutmann of
a contingent or a conditional certification if you were 
otherwise minded to certify. So in Gutmann the claim 
was certified s ubject t o t he p rovision o f a  new 
methodology on a certain point. That means that my 
learned friends could go forth to those with whom they 
need to speak and say, ”We are certified, s ave f or this ,
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1 THE CHAIRMAN: What do you say to the objection to your
2 formulation of the class that it gives rise to pass−on
3 complications, potentially ?
4 MS WAKEFIELD: So, it may potentially, but frankly, no one
5 has yet taken a view on whether that point would or
6 would not be taken, so I cannot give you
7 a straightforward answer, I am afraid. It could be that
8 in the time −− if time is to be allowed to my learned
9 friend to go away and think more about distribution, we
10 could collectively think about whether that point does
11 or does not arise as a matter of law, and if it does,
12 whether we would take it or not.
13 THE CHAIRMAN: Yes, I mean, clearly, on any view, if that
14 point is going to be taken, then it needs to be taken
15 sooner rather than later .
16 MS WAKEFIELD: Of course. Absolutely. It is the sort of
17 point that would be taken at this stage normally if
18 the narrower proposal had been made, but yes,
19 absolutely .
20 My learned friend Ms Stratford I think would like to
21 address you on the ROC issue.
22 Submissions by MS STRATFORD
23 MS STRATFORD: Thank you.
24 Yes, as I think you know, Prysmian has to date taken
25 the lead between the proposed defendants on what we are
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1 all calling ”the ROC issue”, so I just wanted to address
2 you very shortly on that, if I may, really picking up on
3 your very helpful letter of last Friday, which asked us
4 to consider the advantages and disadvantages of hearing
5 the ROC issue as a preliminary issue. Obviously we are
6 extremely grateful for the indication this morning that
7 the Tribunal is minded to order a joint CMC and
8 therefore I can confine my submissions, I think, in
9 light of that. But we do submit that really whatever
10 happens after today in terms of certification and
11 funding and budget and so on, we should have a joint CMC
12 with the London Array full team present as soon as
13 possible .
14 I am sure it will not have escaped attention that
15 Mr Jowell was slightly qualified in his support for this
16 hiving off of the ROC issue, so his team only consent to
17 the ROC issue being heard in London Array, and he was
18 clear about that, and so I do just want to briefly
19 explain why we see this issue as so important and why we
20 would say really , irrespective of what happens with what
21 currently seems like a very good idea that it should be
22 accommodated within the extended London Array trial
23 timetable, the ROC issue should be taken first.
24 So, coming back to advantages and disadvantages,
25 candidly, we see several important advantages and few,
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1 if any, disadvantages. In particular , the ROC issue,
2 I should say, as we are all using that term, so I am
3 focusing here on the 2009 and 2010 renewable obligations
4 orders, they form a very significant part of this claim.
5 In crude terms, it is worth a lot of money, about
6 £287 million, or if it is more helpful to think of it in
7 these terms, about 36% of the claim, and that is on
8 the PCR’s high case overcharge figures, just to stress
9 that.
10 So coming back to the Tribunal’s, respectfully , very
11 understandable concerns expressed this morning and after
12 the short adjournment about whether the claim will be
13 worth it for individual consumers, it is relevant , we
14 submit, that this is a very sizeable chunk of the claim
15 and we do submit that all of the issues which the
16 Tribunal was canvassing with Mr Jowell come into play
17 with, if you like , bells and whistles on, when it comes
18 to the question of the ROC issue, and perhaps I can just
19 explain shortly why that is. Perhaps to put a bit of
20 flesh on the bones, we can see the figures in our
21 skeleton argument, that is at {AB/4/11}, and in
22 particular if I could direct your attention perhaps to
23 footnote 36. I realise there is a slight irony in my
24 directing you only to a footnote of our skeleton
25 argument, but nevertheless. We set out there
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1 the relevant figures , and this is all taken from
2 Mr Druce, so Ms Spottiswoode expert’s evidence, and you
3 can see from that that if you exclude the damages
4 arising from ROC 2009 and 2010, the damages figure
5 claimed, based on the high case, that is the 26% alleged
6 overcharge, would reduce to 502.8 million, or on a per
7 customer basis, each class member would then receive on
8 that assumption £17.56. That is the high case. Then
9 you will see, at the end of that footnote, the low case
10 reduces the damages to 174.8 million and a per class
11 member figure of £6.10. I do respectfully submit it is
12 helpful to have those figures in mind.
13 I am very conscious that Mr Jowell has already
14 outlined shortly the ROC issue and I am not going to try
15 to traverse that ground again, but just to stress five
16 short points, if I may, about the advantages of trying
17 this issue first .
18 First −−
19 MR JUSTICE RICHARDS: Sorry, just to help me navigate these
20 submissions, are you getting your retaliation in first
21 in a sense in that even if London Array say ROC no
22 longer arises in their claim −− in their case, you would
23 still like a preliminary issue?
24 MS STRATFORD: I was going to come to that, because
25 Mr Jowell made very clear that that is not
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1 even slower and more difficult , but nevertheless it has
2 to be recognised there are three sets of proposed
3 defendants, six in total , and there, I expect, would
4 need to be some degree of discussion and coordination
5 between them while they take instructions and formulate
6 their pleadings. We have of course got the summer
7 period falling during the four months, which is why
8 extra time has been allowed for that.
9 I am reminded by Ms Banks −− I am very grateful −−
10 that four months was in the original plan of the PCR
11 when they first proposed a timetable, so in our
12 submission, it remains appropriate and realistic , and
13 hopefully, if we have that date, it will not be
14 a question of needing to ask for extensions or anything
15 like that.
16 THE CHAIRMAN: Thank you.
17 MS STRATFORD: I am grateful.
18 THE CHAIRMAN: The Tribunal will now rise for approximately
19 15 minutes.
20 (3.13 pm)
21 (A short break)
22 (3.38 pm)
23 Order
24 THE CHAIRMAN: The Tribunal will issue a reserved judgment
25 in due course. For today’s purposes, the Tribunal is
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1 satisfied that the claim is suitable to be brought in
2 collective proceedings, that the funding agreement is
3 not a DBA, and it approves the draft
4 collective proceedings order subject to the following
5 five points.
6 Firstly , as to the definition of the class , we
7 prefer the defendants’ formulation, that is to say
8 the definition in paragraph 8 of the draft order
9 adjusted as follows :
10 ”All people alive who directly paid and personal
11 representatives of deceased people who directly paid
12 the cost of domestic consumption of electricity supplied
13 by the distribution network in Great Britain on or after
14 1 April 2001.”
15 With consequential amendments to the excisions from
16 that group.
17 Secondly, the order should include a direction that
18 the proposed defendants must set out in their respective
19 defences if they are taking a point on pass−on and if so
20 what their case is .
21 Thirdly, the order should include a direction that
22 the PCR reports to the Tribunal within two months with
23 proposals for a practicable and efficient methodology
24 for the distribution of damages to the class not limited
25 to a process for distribution of cash and not limited to

130

1 a process in which members of the class must come
2 forward and prove their entitlement. The Tribunal will
3 keep this aspect of the case under review, and in
4 the absence of satisfactory proposals, the Tribunal will
5 of course have the option of decertifying these
6 proceedings.
7 Fourthly, the order should include the direction for
8 a joint CMC with the London Array proceedings, if
9 possible to take place in May or June.
10 Fifthly , the order should include a direction that
11 the PCR must within three weeks set out the assumptions
12 underlying her litigation budget, specifying the stages
13 and durations of the stages of the proceedings in
14 sufficient detail for the Tribunal to determine in
15 future whether there has been a significant departure
16 from the assumptions underlying the initial litigation
17 budget, but not descending into details of charging
18 rates and so on.
19 That is our order.
20 MR JOWELL: We are grateful.
21 On the two months, I do not know whether that is
22 entirely written in stone. Might we suggest that we
23 have a little longer given that the proposed defendants
24 have −− there is something of a hiatus while the
25 defences go in in four months’ time, and if we are to
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1 engage with third parties such as regulators , with no
2 disrespect , they are not always known for their
3 expeditious engagement and therefore it might not be
4 possible to both engage with them, get responses and
5 then consider the position within two months, and it
6 would be a shame to simply come up with nothing that is
7 constructive . So if it is possible to have a little
8 longer, three months or four months, then I am sure we
9 would be grateful.
10 THE CHAIRMAN: You can have three months.
11 MR JOWELL: I am grateful.
12 THE CHAIRMAN: Anything else?
13 MS WAKEFIELD: I think not. Thank you very much.
14 THE CHAIRMAN: Well, thank you very much to all the counsel
15 and the solicitors for your very helpful submissions.
16 (3.44 pm)
17 (The hearing concluded)
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
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